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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V.
DAMIAN KUTZNER, et al,
Defendants.

Case No. 8:16-cv-00999-BRO

(AFMx)
PRELIMINARY

INJUNCTION WITH ASSET
FREEZE, APPOINTMENT

OF RECEIVER, LIMITED

EXPEDITED DISCOVERY,
AND OTHER EQUITABLE

RELIEF AS TO

DEFENDANT JEREMY FOTI

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commissi(“FTC"), pursuant to Section 13(k
of the Federal Trade Commission ACETC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and the
2009 Omnibus Appropriations Act, Publiaw 111-8, Section 626, 123 Stat. 52
678 (Mar. 11, 2009) (“Omnibus Act’as clarified by the Credit Card
Accountability Responsibility and DisclosuAct of 2009, Piolic Law 111-24,
Section 511, 123 Stat. 1734, 1763-64 (Mar. 22, 2009) (“Credit Card Act”), ar
amended by the Dodd-Frank Wall Streetd®ef and Consumer Protection Act,
Public Law 111-203, Section 1097, 13tat. 1376, 2102-03 (July 21, 2010)
(“Dodd-Frank Act”), 12 U.S.C8 5538, has filed a complaint to obtain tempora

Doc. 110

4

)

4,

1d

Dockg

ts.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/california/cacdce/8:2016cv00999/649174/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/california/cacdce/8:2016cv00999/649174/110/
https://dockets.justia.com/

© 0 N oo g B~ W N PP

N N DN DN DN DN DN NDN R R R R R R R R R
w N o O A W N FBP O © 0 N O 0O M W N B O

preliminary, and permanent injunctive reliegscission or reforation of contracts

restitution, the refund of monies paidsglorgement of ill-gotten monies, and ot
equitable relief for Defendants’ acts or pragsien violation of Section 5(a) of th
FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), and the Mgage Assistance Relief Services Rule
(“MARS Rule™), 16 C.F.R. Part 322, redified as Mortgage Assistance Relief

Services, 12 C.F.R. Part 10¢'Regulation O”), and haspplied for a preliminary
injunction order pursuant to Rule 65(b)tbé Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

On June 1, 2016, this court issueddisParte Temporary Restraining Or(
with Asset Freeze, Appointment ofmprary Receiver, Limited Expedited
Discovery, and Other Equitable Reliahd Order to Show Cause Why Prelimin
Injunction Should not IssuDE 23 (“TRO”). On dine 15, 2016, the Court
extended the TRO until July 1, 2016. BE. Thereafter, the Court entered
preliminary injunctions (DEs 56-57, 59) @seach of the defendants named in {
original Complaint (DE 1).

On June 13, 2016, the Temporary Receiver filedPhetiminary Report of
Temporary Receivem which he writes: “[Jerenjyroti is a key, but elusive,
player in the Advantis/Brookstone unrge. He operatdsom a large, and upon
our arrival locked, office next to Mr. Kener's office. Athough he has adroitly
avoided any formal ownership of thelyantis or Brookstone entities, we saw
ample confirmation that he was &l one of the bosses.” DE 41.

On July 5, 2016, the FTC filed iEsrst Amended Complaint for Permanel
Injunction and Other Equitable ReligfFirst Amended Complaint”) adding
Jeremy Foti as a defendant. DE 61.

Having considered the parties’ plaags, papers, and argument, the Cou
herebyGRANTS the Preliminary Injunction against defendant Jeremy Foti.
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FINDINGS OF FACT
This Court, having considered the FTC’s Complamtparteapplication,

declarations, exhibits, and memorandadfile support of the FTC’s application,
and the evidence presented, finds that:

1.  This Court has jurisdiction over tlseibject matter of this case, and
there is good cause to believe it wilMegurisdiction oveall parties hereto;

2.  There is good cause to believatthrenue lies properly with this
Court;

3.  On May 31, 2016, the FTC filed iGomplaintand Memorandum in
Support of Ex Parté&pplication for a Temporary Re&aining Order (“TRO”) with
Asset Freeze, Appointment of TempoiRegeiver, Limited Expied Discovery,
and Other Equitable Relief, and Order$bow Cause Why Preliminary Injuncti
Should Not IssuéTROMemo”) and related pleadings. DE 1, 11; DE 1-18;

4.  OnJune 1, 2016, the Court enteredexsParte Temporary
Restraining Order with Asset Freeze, Ampment of Temporary Receiver, Limit
Expedited Discovery, and Other Equitalitelief, and Order to Show Cause W
Preliminary Injunction Should not IssérRO”). DE 23;

5.  OnJune 24, 2016, the Court enteredstipulated Preliminary
Injunction with Asset Freeze, Appointmhef Temporary Receiver, Limited
Expedited Discovery, and Other Equitalitelief As To Vito Torchia, JDE 56)
andStipulated Preliminary Injunction with Asset Freeze, Appointment of
Temporary Receiver, Limitdekpedited Discovery, and dr Equitable Relief Ag
To Damian Kutzner, Charles Marshall, Jonathan Tarkow&kiyvantis P.C., and
Advantis Law Group P.GDE 57);

6. On June 27, 2016, the Court enteredPitsliminary Injunction with
Asset Freeze, Appointment of TempoiRegeiver, Limited Exped Discovery,
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and Other Equitable Relief As To Gkey Broderick, Brookstone Law P.C.
(California) and Brookstone Law P.C. (NevadBE 59);

7. OnJuly 5, 2016, the FTC filed iisrst Amended Complaint adding
Jeremy Foti as a defendant. DE 61. On July 12, 2016, the First Amended
Complaint was served on Jeremy Fotig®rsonal service through his counsel
pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rué<£ivil Procedure. Moreover, Defendar
Jeremy Foti's counsel was electronically serwith all of the pleadings in this
matter on July13, 2016;

8.  OnJuly 13, 2016, the FTC fildlaintiff's Notice of Application and
Application for Preliminary InjunctioWith Asset Freeze, Limited Expedited
Discovery, and Other EquitablRelief As to Jeremy Fa@nd accompanying
Plaintiff's Memorandum In Support OpAlication For Preliminary Injunction
With Asset Freeze, LimddeExpedited Discovery, ArOther Equitable Relief,
Against Jeremy Fati

9. There is good cause to believe tHatendant Jeremy Foti has enga
in, and is likely to continue to engage acts or practices that violate Section 5(
of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)ciading but not limited to falsely and
misleadingly representing, directly or ingictly, expressly or by implication that

a. Defendants are likely to obtain rdli®r consumers, including in
some instances “at least $75,0@0"consumers’ homes free and
clear,

b. Defendants will seek to vdiconsumers’ mortgages;

c. Defendants have a teamhexperienced lawers and personnel to
litigate mass joinder cases allegiegder fraud and tated claims
on behalf of hundreds or thousaradglients simultaneously; ang

d. Defendants will file lawsuits oparticular consumers’ behalf.

It

ged
a)




© 0 N oo g B~ W N PP

N N DN DN DN DN DN NDN R R R R R R R R R
w N o O A W N FBP O © 0 N O 0O M W N B O

The FTC is therefore likely to prevail oretimerits of its action under Section 5
of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a);
10. There is good cause to believe timimediate and irreparable harm

will result from defendant Jeremy Foti’'s onggiviolations of Section 5(a) of the

FTC Act restrained and enjad by Order of this Court;

11. There is good cause to believattthe Court’s ability to grant
effective final relief for consumers inglform of equitable monetary relief and
disgorgement of ill-gotten gains will suffer immediate and irreparable damag
from defendant Jeremy Foti’s transfer, dissga or concealment of his Assets

business records unless he is restrained and enjoined by Order of this Court;

12. Good cause exists to permit tR€C to take limited expedited
discovery from third parties as to taristence and location of Assets and
Documents;

13. Weighing the equities and conerthg the FTC’s likelihood of
ultimate success, a preliminary injunctiorer with an Asset freeze, limited
expedited discovery as to the existened cation of Assets and Documents, §
other equitable relief is ithe public interest; and

14. No security is required of any eigcy of the United States for the
issuance of a preliminary injunctiondar. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c).

DEFINITIONS
For the purposes of this Preliminary Injunction order, the following

definitions apply:

A. “Asset” or“Assets” means any legal or equitable interest in, right
or claim to, any and all reand personal property of Defgant Foti or held for hi
benefit , wherever located, whether i tinited States or abroad, including bu
not limited to chattel, goods, instrumerdgguipment, fixtures, general intangible

effects, leaseholds, contracts, mail or other deliveries, inventory, checks, not
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accounts, credits, receivables (as éhtesms are defined in the Uniform
Commercial Code), shares of stock, fes all cash or etency, and trusts,
including but not limited to a trust heldrfthe benefit of Defendant Foti, his min
children, or his spouse, and shall inclmeh existing Assets and Assets acquil
after the date this order igsied, or any interest therein.

B. “Asset Freeze Accountsincludes accounts that are held by or fof
benefit of, or controlled by, directly amdirectly, by Defendant Foti, Time Out
Management LTD LLC, Taphouse LLGAMC Services Inc., GAMC Limo
Leasing Inc., and DND consulting Inésset Freeze Accounts also includes th
following accounts, identified by the aeod holder, the Finamal Institution, and
last four digits of the account number:

1. Time Out Management LTD LT, Bank of America, 2464,
2. GAMC Services Inc., Bank of America, 6849;

3. Taphouse LLC, Bank of America, 0031; and

4. DND Consulting Inc., Bak of America, 0095.

C. “Assisting others” includes but is not limited to: (1) performing
customer service functions, including, It limited to, receiving or responding
to consumer complaints; (2) formtiteg or providing, or arranging for the
formulation or provision of, any adveritig or marketing material, including but
not limited to, any telephone sales scrigptect mail solicitatio, or the design,
text, or use of images of any Intetrwebsite, email, or other electronic
communications; (3) formulating or provindj, or arranging for the formulation ¢
provision of, any marketing support matewalservice, including but not limited
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providing marketing, billing, or paymentrseces of any kind; (6) acting or serving
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as an owner, officer, director, managarprincipal of any entity; (7) providing
telemarketing services; or (8) consodfiwith regard to any of the above.

D. “Corporate Defendants” means, collectively, Advantis Law P.C.,
Advantis Law Group P.C., Brookstone L&AC. (California), Brookstone Law
P.C. (Nevada), and their successors, ass#ffikates, or subsidiaries, and each
them by whatever names each might be known.

E. “Defendants” means the Individual Defendants, Corporate
Defendants, and their successors, assaffiBates, subsidiaries, or agents,
individually, collectively, or in any combation, and each of them by whatever
names each might be known.

F.  “Document” is synonymous in meaning and equal in scope to th
terms “Document” and “electronically semt information,” as described and usg
in the Federal Rules of Civil Proceduréhis includes, but is not limited to,
electronic mail, instant messaging, videoconferencing, and other electronic
correspondence (whether active, archivedn a deleted items folder), word
processing files, spreadsheets, databhas®d video and sound recordings, whe
stored on: cards; magnetic or electronic tapes; disks; computer hard drives,
network shares or servers, or otdaves; cloud-based platforms; cell phones,
PDAs, computer tablets, or other nileldevices; or other storage media.

G. “Electronic Data Host” means any person or entity in the busines
storing, hosting, or otherwise maintainielgctronically stored information. Thig
includes, but is not limited to, any enthgsting a website or server, and any er
providing “cloud based” electronic storage.

H.  “Financial Institution” means any bank, savingad loan institution
credit union, payment processor, trustany financial depository of any kind,
including but not limited to, any brokasge house, trustee, broker-dealer, escro
agent, titte company, commaodity tradicompany, or precious metal dealer.
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l. “Individual Defendants” means, collectively, Damian Kutzner, Vi

Torchia, Jonathan Tarkowski, GeoffreydBerick, Charles Marshall, Jeremy Faot

and any other names theyght use, have used, bedwn by or have been know
by.

J. “Person” means any individual, groupnincorporated association
limited or general partmghip, corporation oother business entity.

K. “Plaintiff” means the Federal TraB®mmission (“Commission” or
“FTC").
L.  “Receivership Entities” means Corporate Defendants and any

entities that are part of Defendants’ common enterprise, including but not lin
to Broad Base Inc. and FedeManagement Systems Inc. “Receivership Entit
includes businesses that lack formal lejeucture (such as businesses operatit
under fictitious business names), but that otherwise satisfy the definition of
“Receivership Entity.”

M. “Receiver’” means the Receiver appoiniadhis case. The term

“Receiver” also includes any deputy reaa or agents as may be named by th
Receiver.
N.  “Stipulating Individual Defendants” means Damian Kutzner,

Charles Marshall, and Jonatin Tarkowski and any otheames they might use,
have used, be known by bave been known by.

O. “Stipulating Corporate Defendants” means Advantis Law P.C., a
Advantis Law Group P.G@nd their successors, assigns, affiliates, or subsidiaf
and each of them by whatever names each might be known.

P.  “Stipulating Defendants” means collectively Stipulating Individual

Defendants, Stipulating Corporate Dedants, Vito Torchia Jr., and their

successors, assigns, affiliates, subsidiaoeagents, individually, collectively, or
in any combination, and each of thésnwhatever names each might be knowr.
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Q. “Defendant Foti’ means Jeremy Foti, arahy other names he migh
use, have used, be knowm or have been known by.
l. PROHIBITED REPRESENTATIONS
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Defendant Foti, his officers, agen
servants, employees, and atieys, and all other persons in active concert or

participation with him, \Wo receive actual notice tifis Order, whether acting
directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promaotior
offering for sale, sale, or performance afaervice or product, are restrained
enjoined from misrepresenting or assistitigers in misrepreséing, expressly or
by implication:

A. Defendants are likely to obtain rdlier consumers, including “at
least $75,000” or consumersbmes free and clear;

B. Defendants will seek to vdiconsumers’ mortgages;

C. Defendants have a teamhexperienced lawgrs and personnel to
litigate mass joinder cases allegingder fraud and retaed claims; and

D. Defendants will file lawsuits on pacular consumers’ behalf.

Il. PRESERVATION OF RECORDS AND TANGIBLE THINGS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti, his officers, agents,

servants, employees, and atieys, and all other persons in active concert or

participation with him, Wo receive actual notice dfis Order, whether acting
directly or indirectly, in connection with the advertising, marketing, promotior|
offering for sale, sale, or provision of apsoduct or servicegre hereby restraine
and enjoinedrom destroying, erasing, mutilating, concealing, altering,
transferring, or otherwise disposing of,any manner, directly or indirectly, any
Documents or records that relate to blusiness practices, or business and pers
finances, of Defendants, or an entity dthe or indirectly under the control of
Defendants.
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I1l.  DISABLEMENT OF WEBSITES AND PRESERVATION OF

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, immediately upon service of the Org
upon them, (1) any Electronic Data Hasid (2) Defendant Foti, his officers,
agents, servants, employees, and attorrays all other persons in active conce
or participation with himywho receive actual notice tfis Order, whether acting
directly or indirectly, shall:

A. Immediately take all necessary fdp ensure that any Internet
website used by Defendant Foti for the atigerg, marketing, promotion, offerin

er

g

for sale, sale, or provision of servicespooducts relating to consumers’ mortgages

or containing statements or representagiprohibited by Section | of this Order
cannot be accessed by the public; and

B. Prevent the alteration, destruction or erasure of any (1) Internet
website used by Defendant Foti for the atigerg, marketing, promotion, offerin

g

for sale, sale, or provision of servicesgpooducts relating to consumers’ mortgajges

by preserving such websites in the formmaivhich they are matained currently
and (2) any electronically stored information stored on behalf of Defendant R
entities in active concert or peipation with any of them.
V. SUSPENSION OF INTERNET DOMAIN NAME REGISTRATIONS
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any domain name registrar shall
suspend the registration of any Internet website used by Defendant Foti for {

advertising, marketing, prastion, offering for sale, sale, or provision of servicg
or products relating to consumers’ rigages or containing statements or
representations prohibited by Section tlng Order and provide immediate noti
to counsel for the FTC of any other Intetmlomain names registered by Defen
Foti, his officers, agents, servants, empley, and attorneys, and all other pers
in active concert or participation with anfthem who receive actual notice of t
Order by personal service or otherwise.
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V. PROHIBITION ON USE OF CUSTOMER INFORMATION
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti, his officers, agents,
directors, servants, employees, salespersand attorneys, as well as all other

persons or entities in active concert ortiggration with him, who receive actual
notice of this Order by personal serviceotinerwise, whether acting directly or
through any trust, corporation, subsidiary, division, or other device, are here
restrained and enjoined from using, bigtiag from, selling, renting, leasing,
transferring, or otherwise disclosing the name, addresphtaie number, email
address, Social Security number, dredrd number, deb@ard number, bank
account number, any finanteccount number, or any @athat enables access t
any customer’s account, or other ideyitify information of any person which an
Defendant obtained prior to when thisd®r is signed in connection with the
marketing or sale of any product or seey including those who were contacteg
are on a list to be contacted by any of flefendants; provided that Defendant §
may disclose such identifying informnan to the Receiver, a law enforcement
agency, or as required by any lawgulation, or court order.
VI. ASSET FREEZE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti, and his officers, age

servants, and employees, and all otherqres®r entities directly or indirectly

under the control of him, and all oth@@rsons or entities in active concert or
participation with him who receive actual notice of this Order are hereby rest
and enjoined from directly or indirectly:

A.  Transferring, liquidating, convertingncumbering, pledging, loaning,

selling, concealing, dissipating, disbungj assigning, spending, withdrawing,
granting a lien or security interest or otir@erest in, or otherwise disposing of §
Assets, or any interest therein, whexelocated, including outside the United
States, that are:

1. Asset Freeze Accounts;
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2. owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by Defendant Fo
in whole or in part, or held, in whole or part, for the benefit of Defendant Foti

3. in the actual or constructiymssession of Defendant Foti; or

4.  owned, controlled by, or in éhactual or constructive possesg
of any corporation, partnership, or otleatity directly or indirectly owned,
managed, or controlled by, or und@mmon control with Defendant Foti,
including any entity acting under atittous name owned by or controlled by
Defendant Foti, and any Agseheld by, for, or undehe name of Defendant Fot
at any bank or savings and loan ingitn, or with any broker-dealer, escrow
agent, titte company, commaodity trading company, payment processing comni
precious metal dealer, or other Finandmestitution or depository of any kind,;

B. Opening or causing to be openery @afe deposit boxes titled in the

name of Defendant Foti, or subjeotaccess by Defendant Foti;

C. Incurring charges or cash advanoesany credit card, debit card, of

checking card issued in the name, singly or jointly, of Defendant Foti;
D. Obtaining a personal or secured loan;
E. Incurring liens or encumbrances on real property, personal prope
other Assets in the name, singlyjontly, of Defendant Foti; and
F.  Cashing any checks or depositing amgney orders or cash receive
from consumers, clients, customers of Defendant Foti.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Assets affestl by this Section shal

include: (1) all Assets of Defendant Fas$ of the time the TRO was entered; a
(2) for Assets obtained after the time {iRO was enterethose Assets of
Defendant Foti that are derived, ditlgcr indirectly, from the Defendants’
activities as described in the Commission’s Complaint, including the activitie
any Receivership Entity. This Section do®t prohibit transfaerto the Receiver,
as specifically required in the Section utl€'ransfer of Funds to the Receiver [
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Financial Institutions and @ér Third Parties,” nor dodisprohibit the repatriatior

of foreign Assets, as specifically reed in the Section titled “Repatriation of

Foreign Assets” of this Order.

VIl. RETENTION OF ASSETS AND DOCUMENTS BY THIRD PARTIES
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any Financidhstitution, business

entity, Electronic Data Host, or person served with a copy of this Order that

controls, or maintains custody of any accoldcument, or Asset of, on behalf
in the name of, for the benefit of, subjéztwithdrawal by, subject to access or
by, or under the signatory power of Defendant Foti, or other party subject to
Asset Freeze above, or Hasd, controlled, or maintained any such account,
Document, or Asset, shall:

A. Hold, preserve, and retain withinctuentity’s or person’s control, a
prohibit the withdrawal, removal, alteration, assignment, transfer, pledge,
hypothecation, encumbrance, disbursetndissipation, conversion, sale,
liquidation, or other disposal of suchcacant, Document, or Asset held by or un
such entity’s or person’s control, excegtdirected by further order of the Cour

B. Provide the Receiver immediaecess to electronically stored
information stored, hosted, or otherwigaintained on behalf of Defendant Foti
for forensic imaging;

C. Deny access to any safe deposit boxasdhe either titled in the nar
of, individually or jointly, or subject taccess by, DefendaRbti or other party
subject to the Asset Freeze above; and

D. Provide to counsel for the FT@jthin one (1) business day of
service, a sworn s&mnent setting forth:

1. the identification of each acant or Asset titled in the name,
individually or jointly, or held on behatif or for the benefit of, subject to
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withdrawal by, subject to access or use by, or under the signatory power of
Defendant Foti or other partulgject to the Asset Freeze above;

2.  the balance of each such accownta description of the natur
and value of such Asset, as of the elo$ business on the day on which this Or
Is served, the day before the Order ived, and the average daily balance for t
six months before the Order is served,;

3. the identification of any safe deposit box that is either titled i

the name of, individually or jointly, or istherwise subject to access or control
Defendant Foti or other party sebj to the Asset Freeze above; and

4, if the account, safe deposit box,ather Asset has been close

or removed, the date closed or remoubd,balance on said &@g and the name o
the person or entity to whom suabcount or other Asset was remitted,;

E. Provide counsel for the FTC, withthree (3) business days after
being served with a request, copieslbDacuments pertaining to such account
Asset, including but not limited to: emunt statements, account applications,
signature cards, underwriting files, chealtsposit tickets, transfers to and from
the accounts, wire transfers, all othebil@and credit instruments or slips, 1099
forms, and safdeposit box logs; and

F.  Cooperate with all reamable requests of the FTC relating to this
Order’s implementation.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Section shall apply to (a) all Assq
as of the time the TRO was entered; éndfor Assets obtained after the TRO W
entered, those Assets that are derive@ctly or indirectly, from the Defendants
activities as described in the Commission’s Complaint, including the activitie
any Receivership Entity. This Section do®t prohibit transferto the Receiver,
as specifically required in the Section utl€l'ransfer of Funds to the Receiver [
Financial Institutions and @ér Third Parties,” nor doatsprohibit the repatriatiorn
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of foreign Assets, as specifically recpd in the Section titled “Repatriation of
Foreign Assets” of this Order.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in addition to the information and
documents required to be produced purst@other provisions herein, the FTC
granted leave, pursuant to Fed. R. Glv45, to subpoena documents immediat
from any financial or brokerage institutidousiness entity, electronic data host
person served with a copy of this Ordeattholds, controls, or maintains custod
of any account, document, electronically stbmformation, oasset of, on behalt
of, in the name of, for the benefit of, sabj to withdrawal by, subject to access
use by, or under the signatory power ofénelant Foti, or other party subject to
Section VIII above, or has held, contralleor maintained any such account,
document, electronically stored inforn@ti or asset, anglich financial or
brokerage institution, business entitye@tonic data host or person shall respo

to such subpoena within #® (3) business days after seev The FTC may effec

service by electronic mail.

VIIl. EINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti nati provide Financial

Statements to the FTC atcordance with SectionlN of the TRO, within (1)
business days of entry of this Order. $tall complete the “Financial Statemen
Individual Defendant” in the forrof Attachment A to the TRO.
IX. CREDIT REPORTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the FTC may obtain credit reports
concerning Defendant Foti pursuanSection 604(a)(1) of the Fair Credit
Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1681b(a)(apd that, upon written request, any cre
reporting agency from which such reports egquested shall provide them to th
FTC.

X. REPATRIATION OF FOREIGN ASSETS
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, within one (1) day following entry of
this Order on the docketDefendant Foti shall:

A.  Transfer to the territory of the United States and provide the FTC

and

the Receiver with a full accounting df Assets, Documents, and records outside

of the territory of theJnited States that are:
1. owned or controlled by;
2. subject to access by;
3. held in whole or in part for the benefit of;
4. belonging to any entity that is directly or indirectly owned,
managed, or underdtcontrol of; or
5. belonging to a person under the control of Defendant Foti;
B. Hold all repatriated Assets, Docunts, and records as required by
Asset Freeze imposed by this Order; and
C. Provide the FTC access to all red® of accounts or Assets of
Defendant Foti held by anyiancial Institution or othgverson located outside t
territorial United States by signingyaDocuments required by any person,
including any Financial Institution, @ther person holding any such Asset.
XI.  NON-INTERFERENCE WI TH REPATRIATION
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti, and his successors,
assigns, members, officers, agents, sésyamployees, and attorneys, and tho

persons in active concert or participatiomthshim who receive actual notice of tl
Order by personal service or otherwisdether acting directly or through any
entity, corporation, subsidiary, division, affiliate or other device, are hereby
restrained and enjoined from taking anyi@g, directly or indirectly, that may
result in the encumbrance or dissipatioriarign Assets, or in the hindrance of
the repatriation required by the preceding “Repatriation of Assets” Section o
Order, including, but not limited to:
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A. Sending any statement, letter, farjail or wire transmission, or
telephoning or engaging in any other actedily or indirectly, that results in a
determination by a foreign trustee or othatity that a “duress” event has occur
under the terms of a foreign trust agreemariil such time that all Assets have
been fully repatriated pursuant to tHeepatriation of Assets” Section of this
Order; or

B. Notifying any trustee, protector, or other agent of any foreign trus
other related entities of eithére existence of this Ordeor of the fact that
repatriation is required pursuant to a court order, until suchttiat all Assets
have been fully repatriated pursuant Repatriation of Assets” Section of this
Order.

Xll. RECORDKEEPING AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti isereby restrained and

enjoined from:

A. Failing to create and maintain Dauants that, in reasonable detalil
accurately, fairly, and completelyflect their incomes, disbursements,
transactions, and use of money;

B. Creating, operating, or exergigi any control over any business
entity, including any partnership, limitgzhrtnership, joinventure, sole
proprietorship, limited liability company @orporation, without first providing th
Commission with a written statement disilay: (1) the name of the business
entity; (2) the address amelephone number of the business entity; (3) the nar

of the business entity’s officers, diredpprincipals, managers, and employees;

and (4) a detailed description of thesiness entity’s intended activities; and
C. Affiliating with, becoming employed by, or performing any work f

any business that is not a named Defendant in this action without first providi

the Commission with a written statement tbsag: (1) the name of the busine
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(2) the address and telephone number of the business; and (&jleddbescriptio
of the nature of the business or empleyrand the nature of Defendant Foti's
duties and responsibilities in connectiwith that business or employment.
X, COOPERATION WITH THE RECEIVER
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foshall fully cooperate
with and assist the Receiver. Defendaoti’'s cooperation and assistance shall

include, but not be limited to, providingnainformation to the Receiver that the
Receiver deems necessary to exerthigseauthority and discharge the
responsibilities of the Receivander this Order; providingny login, password, ¢
biometric identifier required to acceassy computer or electronic files or
information in or on any medium; and asivig all persons who owe money to tl
Receivership Entities that all debts sholoddpaid directly to the Receiver.
Defendant Foti is hereby resined and enjoined frowhirectly or indirectly:

A. Transacting any of the business of the Receivership Entities;

B. Excusing debts owed to the Receivership Entities;

C. Destroying, secreting, defacing, ted@rring, or otherwise altering or

disposing of any Documents thfe Receivership Entities;

D. Transferring, receiving, alteringelling, encumbering, pledging,
assigning, liquidating, or otherwise dispugiof any Assets owned, controlled, g
in the possession or custody of, or in which an interest isdnaimed by, the
Receivership Entities, or the Receiver;

E. Failing to provide any assistanoeinformation requested by the
Receiver in connection with obtaininggsession, custody, or control of any
Assets within the receivership estate that Receiver or the FTC has identified

F.  Doing any act or thing whatsoeuerinterfere with the Receiver’s
taking and keeping custody, control, possession, or managing of the Assets
Documents subject to this receivershiptaharass or interfere with the Receivq
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in any way; or to interfere in any mammeith the exclusive jurisdiction of this
Court over the Assets or Documents of Rexeivership Entities; or to refuse to
cooperate with the Receiver the Receiver’s duly authorized agents in the
exercise of their duties or autltgrunder any Order of this Court.

XIV. TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO THE RECEIVER BY FINANCIAL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, upon service @ copy of this Order,
any Financial Institution sliacooperate with all reasohke requests of counsel f
the FTC and the Receiver relating to implementation of this Order, including
transferring funds at the Receiver’satition and producing records related to tl
Assets and sales of the Receivership Entities.

XV. RECEIVER'S ACCESS TO BUSINESS PREMISES AND RECORDS
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:
A. If Defendant Foti possesses a stplaone or tablet on receivership

premises, they will turn over the device to the Receiver for imaging. Within t
business days, the Receivall return the device; and
B. If any Documents, computers, snprbnes, tablets, or electronic da

ne

WO

Aita

storage devices containing information related to the business practices or fjnances

of the Receivership Entities are at adtion other than those listed herein,
including but not limited to, the personakidence(s) of Defendant Foti, then,
immediately upon notice of this Ord&efendant Foti shall produce to the
Receiver all such Documents, computsrsartphones, tablets, or electronic dal
storage devices. To prevehe destruction of electronic data, upon service of
Order upon any Receivership Entity, aagmputers, smartphones, tablets, or
electronic data storage devices contairgagh information shall be powered do
(turned off) in the normal course for the operating systems used on such dey
and shall not be used until produceddopying and inspection, along with any
codes needed for access.r Boy smartphone or tabligtat contains information
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related to the business practices or firanaf the Receivership Entities that is il
the personal possession of Defendant Fogi,Receiver shall image that device
return it to Defendant Fotvithin two business days.
XVI. PARTIES’ ACCESS TO BUSINESS PREMISES AND RECORDS
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receiver shall allow the FTC,
Defendant Foti, and their representativ@ssonable access to the premises of {

Receivership Entities. The purpose of @éteess shall be to inspect, inventory,
and copy any Documents and other propeviyed by, or in the possession of, {
Receivership Entities, provided thabse Documents and property are not
removed from the premises without the pission of the Receiver. The Receiv
shall have the discretion to determine the time, mammmer yeasonable conditior
of such access. The Receivall segregate all materials subject to an attorneyj
client privilege held by a ReceiversHntity's clients and shall not make these
materials available to either the FBEDefendant Foti without the clients’
consent. The FTC’s access to any Docutm@ursuant to this provision shall ng
provide grounds for any Dafdant to object to any subsequent request for
Documents served by the FTC.

XVII. LIMITED EXPEDITED DISCOVERY
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Receivemal the FTC are granted

leave to conduct certain exgited discovery and that ireu of the time periods,

notice provisions, and other requirementshef applicable Local Rules for this
District and Rules 26, 30, 34, and 45 df frederal Rules of Civil Procedure, thg
Receiver and the FTCeagranted leave to:

A. Depose, on three (3) days’ notiesy party or non-party for the
purpose of discovering: (1) the nature, location, status, and extent of Assets
Defendant Foti or his affili@s or subsidiaries; (2)d¢mature and location of

Documents and business records of DefenBattor his affiliates or subsidiaries;
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and (3) compliance with this Order.nAsuch depositions ahll not be counted
toward any deposition limit set forth in thederal Rules of Civil Procedure or t
Court’s Local rules and shall not preclude the FTC from subsequently depos
same person during discovery the merits in this casdepositions may be takg
by telephone, video conference, or atreamote meansAny deposition taken
pursuant to this Section that has heen reviewed and signed by the deponent

may be used by any party for purposes of any preliminary injunction hearing,

B.  Serve upon parties interrogatormsrequests for production of
Documents or inspection that require sp@nse, production or inspection withir
four (4) days of service, and mayge subpoenas upon non-parties that direct
production or inspection within seven @ays of service, for the purpose of
discovering: (1) the nature, location, status, and extent of Assets of Defendj
or his affiliates or subsidiaries; (&)e nature and location of Documents and
business records of Defendant Foti ar &ifiliates or subsidiaries; and (3)
compliance with this Order; provided, however, that forty-eight (48) hours’ n¢
shall be deemed sufficient for the protion of any such Documents that are
maintained or stored as electronic daday such interrogatories or requests fol
production or inspection shall not couniveard any limit on discovery set forth it
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedwethis Court’s Local Rules;

C. For purposes of this Sectioserve deposition notices and other

discovery requests upon the parties to algison personally or by facsimile, emdi

certified or registered mail, or privateurier (including a process server) with g
receipt from the courier showing delivery; and

D. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. B5, subpoena Documents immediately
from any Financial Institubin, business entity, Electronic Data Host, or person
served with a copy of this Order that &i®| controls, or maintains custody of an
account, Document, or Asset of, on belod)fin the name of, for the benefit of,
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subject to withdrawal by, subject to access or use by, or under the signatory
of Defendant Foti or other party subj¢atthe Asset Freeze above, or has held,
controlled, or maintained any such agat, Document, or Asse The recipient
shall respond to such submp@ewithin three (3) businesiays after service. The
FTC may effect service by electronic mail.
XVIII. PRE-EXISTING ORDERS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that nothing herein modifies any existing
Order in any way, including the Orders governing Damian Kutz8ee FTC v.
GM Funding, Inc. SACV02-1026 DOC (C.D. Cal.jgtipulated Judgment and
Order for Permanent Injunction as@efendants GM Funding, Inc., Robert D.

Kutzner, Global Mortgage Funding, lpand Damian R. Kutzner (May 5, 2003);

U.S. v. Global Mortgage Funding, IRGACV07-1275 DOC (C.D. Cal.),
Stipulated Judgment and Order for Panant Injunction (July 17, 2009). The
FTC may take discoverynd pursue any other measure any existing Order pe

XIX. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RE CEIPT OF ORDER BY
SITIPULATING DEFENDANTS

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Foti, within three (3)
business days of receipt of this Ordayst submit to counsel for the FTC a

truthful sworn statement acknowledging receipt of this Order.
XX. CORRESPONDENCE WITH PLAINTIFE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, for the purposes of this Order, beca

mail addressed to the FTC is subject to yielae to heightened security screeni

all correspondence and service of pleadmg#®laintiff shall be sent via electron|i

submission and Federal Express to:

Benjamin Theisman

Gregory Madden

Federal Trade Commission

600 Pennsylvania AvelNW, Mail Drop CC-9528
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Washington, DC 20580
Telephone: (202) 326-2223, -2426
btheisman@ftc.gov, gmadden@ftc.gov

XXI. SERVICE OF THIS ORDER

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that copies of this Order may be served by

facsimile, email, hand-delery, personal or overnigdelivery, or U.S. Mail, by

agents and employees of the FTC or siaye or federal law enforcement agency

or by private process server, upon anyaricial Institution oother entity or

person that may have possessicustody, or control of any Documents or Asseéts

of any Defendant, or that mayherwise be subject to any provision of this Ord
Service upon any branch or office of anypdcial Institution shll effect service
upon the entire Financial Institution.
XXIl. DISTRIBUTION OF ORDER
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that within three (3) calendar days after

service of this Order, Defendant Foti shalbvide a copy of this Order to each of

his agents, employees, directors, officaerdysidiaries, ailiates, attorneys,
independent contractors, representativeschisees, affiliates, and all persons

active concert or participation with therwithin five (5) calendar days following

this Order, Defendant Foti shall provittee FTC with an affidavit identifying the
names, titles, addresseadaelephone numbers of therpens that Defendant Fo
has served with a copy of this Orde compliance with this provision.
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XXIII.

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of

this matter for all purposes of construationodification, and enforcement of thi

Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED

Date: August 24, 2016

L
UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURTJUDGE
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